Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

STATE BOARD OF REGISTRATION
)

FOR THE HEALING ARTS,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 06-1142 HA



)

WALLACE P. BERKOWITZ, M.D.,
)




)



Respondent.
)

ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY 
DETERMINATION IN PART

Wallace P. Berkowitz, M.D., is subject to discipline for failing to securely store a controlled substance and for failing to properly maintain controlled substance records, in violation of drug laws and regulations.
Procedure


On August 1, 2006, the State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts (“the Board”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Berkowitz.  On October 5, 2006, Berkowitz filed an answer to the complaint.  On October 6, 2006, the Board filed a motion for summary determination.  On November 30, 2006, Berkowitz filed a response to the motion, and on December 6, 2006, the Board filed a reply to the response.


Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the Board establishes facts that (a) Berkowitz does not dispute and (b) entitle the Board to a favorable decision. 


The following facts, as established by the Board’s evidence and Berkowitz’s answer, are undisputed.
Findings of Fact

1. Berkowitz is licensed as a physician and surgeon.  His license is and was at all relevant times current and active.
2. On January 3, 2003, Investigator Dennis Moore, with the Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services, Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (“BNDD”), inspected Berkowitz’s controlled substance security and record keeping.
3. Moore found a prescription bottle containing 8 hydrocodone/APAP tablets and bearing a label for patient R.S. that was unsecured on Berkowitz’s bookshelf.
4. Moore found that 50 out of 64 controlled substance prescriptions that were authorized for patient L.R. were not documented in the patient chart and that Berkowitz maintained 15 of these prescriptions and 11 of the refills for this patient in an office “call-back” telephone log.
5. Controlled substance prescribing records for patient L.R. did not contain the patient address, drug strength, or amount dispensed.
6. Moore returned to complete the inspection on April 30, 2003.
7. The following controlled substance prescriptions authorized by Berkowitz did not have “quantities to be dispensed” documented in the patients’ charts:
a) Prescription number 410507, dated 05-15-02, for l80ml of Histussin HC syrup, to Patient R.B. at Dierbergs Pharmacy.
b) Prescription number 4061759, dated 12-13-02, for l80ml of Histussin HC syrup, to Patient D.E. at Drug Emporium Pharmacy.
c) Prescription number 4012137, dated 01-03-03, for 30 Tylenol #3, 30mg tablets, to Patient C.V. at Schnucks Pharmacy.
d) Prescription number 424751, dated 01-10-03, for 180m1 of Histussin HC syrup, to Patient E.Y. at Dierbergs Pharmacy.
e) Prescription number 4150599, dated 03-21-03, for 40 Vicodin ES, to Patient L.W. at Schnucks Pharmacy.
8. Hydrocodone/APAP, Histussin HC syrup, and Vicodin ES are combination drug products containing hydrocodone and are Schedule III controlled substances.  Propoxyphene is a Schedule IV controlled substance,
 and Tylenol #3 is a Schedule III controlled substance.
9. On December 13, 2005, Berkowitz entered into a settlement agreement with the BNDD.
10. In the settlement agreement, Berkowitz stipulated to the facts as set forth above and  agreed to certain “terms” in connection with his BNDD registration for a period of three years.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this complaint.
  The Board has the burden of proving that Berkowitz has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.

I.  Affirmative Defenses


Berkowitz argues that the case is barred by a statute of limitations, but provides no evidence to support this contention.  He also argues the theories of estoppel and unreasonable delay.  These are equitable defenses.  As an administrative agency, we have no authority to apply 
the doctrines of equity.
  Berkowitz argues that his due process rights under the United States and Missouri constitutions have been violated.  He also argues that this proceeding violates his constitutional “right to be free from double jeopardy[.]”
  This Commission does not have authority to decide constitutional issues.
  

II.  Cause for Discipline


The Board argues that there is cause for discipline under § 334.100.2, which states:

2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered the person’s certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *


(13) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government;

*   *   *


(23) Revocation, suspension, limitation or restriction of any kind whatsoever of any controlled substance authority, whether agreed to voluntarily or not[.]

A.  Violation of Drug Laws

Hydrocodone/APAP, Histussin HC syrup, and Vicodin ES are combination drug products containing hydrocodone and are Schedule III controlled substances.
  Propoxyphene is a Schedule IV controlled substance,
 and Tylenol #3 is a Schedule III controlled substance.


Berkowitz admitted that the inspector found an unsecured bottle containing Hydrocodone/APAP in violation of 19 CSR 30-1.034(1)(B), which states:
Controlled substances listed in Schedules III, IV and V shall be stored in a securely locked, substantially built cabinet.


Berkowitz admitted that he did not document 50 out of 64 controlled substance prescriptions that were authorized for patient L.R. in the patient chart and that Berkowitz maintained 15 of these prescriptions and 11 of the refills for this patient in an office “call-back” telephone log.  This conduct violated § 195.050.6, RSMo 2000:

Every person registered to manufacture, distribute or dispense controlled substances under sections 195.005 to 195.425 shall keep records and inventories of all such drugs in conformance with the record keeping and inventory requirements of federal law, and in accordance with any additional regulations of the department of health[;]
and 19 CSR 30-1.041(2):

Maintenance of Records and Inventories.  Every inventory and other record required to be kept under 19 CSR 30-1.041 – 19 CSR 30-1.052 shall be kept by the registrant and be available, for at least two years from the date of the inventory or record, for inspecting and copying by authorized employees of the Department of health, except that financial and shipping records (such as invoices and packing slips, but not executed order forms) may be kept at a central location rather than at the registered location if the registrant obtains from the Department of health approval of his/her central record keeping system and a permit to keep central records[;]
and 19 CSR 30-1.048(2):

Each individual practitioner shall maintain a record of the date, full name and address of the patient, the drug name, strength, dosage form and quantity for all controlled substances prescribed or administered.


Berkowitz admitted that he did not document the patient address, drug strength or amount dispensed on controlled substance prescribing records for patient L.R.  This violated § 195.050.6, 
RSMo 2000, and 19 CSR 30-1.048(2).  Berkowitz admitted that controlled substance prescriptions he authorized did not have “quantities to be dispensed” documented in the patients’ charts, in violation of § 195.050.6, RSMo 2000, and 19 CSR 30.1.048(2).

Berkowitz violated drug laws and regulations and is subject to discipline under 
§ 339.100.2(13).

B.  Revocation, Suspension, Limitation or Restriction


Berkowitz argues that the words probation, suspension, and revocation do not appear in the settlement agreement.  We agree.  The document clearly does not suspend or revoke Berkowitz’s registration because those possibilities are threatened if he fails to comply with the agreement.  “Limit” means:  “to restrict the bounds or limits of . . . to curtail or reduce in quantity or extent[.]”
  “Restrict” means:  “to confine within bounds : RESTRAIN[.]”


The “terms” of the settlement agreement are set forth in the Appendix.  Based on this document alone, we cannot determine whether there is an actual restriction or limitation on Berkowitz’s BNDD registration.  Many of the conditions appear to be merely requirements that Berkowitz follow the law.  If Berkowitz is not being asked to do anything more than that, there is no restriction or limitation and no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(23).  If he was required to do something additional, this may constitute cause for discipline.
  The Board has not met its burden of proving that it is entitled to a favorable decision.

We deny the motion for summary determination as to cause for discipline under 
§ 339.100.2(23).

Summary


We grant the motion for summary determination and find cause for discipline under 
§ 339.100.2(13).  We deny the motion as to § 339.100.2(23) and will convene the hearing as scheduled.

SO ORDERED on December 13, 2006.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY


Commissioner

APPENDIX
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
IV
In light of the foregoing stipulation of facts and in order to provide adequate security against theft and diversion of controlled substances, Dr. Berkowitz and the Bureau hereby consent and agree that Dr. Berkowitz shall be authorized to maintain a Missouri Controlled Substances Registration subject to the following terms:
1.  Dr. Berkowitz understands that under the Healing Arts Practice Act (Chapter 334, RSMo) and the Comprehensive Drug Control Act of 1989 (Chapter 195, RSMo), should his professional medical license be terminated, revoked, denied, or allowed to expire, he will no longer be authorized to lawfully conduct activities with controlled substances until his medical license is reinstated.  Furthermore, if Dr. Berkowitz’s professional medical license is specifically restricted as to his authority to engage in contro1led substance activities, those restrictions shall apply to his state and federal controlled substance registrations as well.
2.  Dr. Berkowitz understands that under the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970 (23 U.S.C. Chapter 13) and the Comprehensive Drug Control Act of 1989 (Chapter 195, RSMo), should his federal controlled substances registration be terminated, revoked, denied, or allowed to expire, he will no longer be authorized to lawfully conduct activities with controlled substances until he as [sic] been issued a new federal controlled substances registration certificate.
3.  All prescription or medication orders for controlled substances issued by Dr. Berkowitz shall indicate whether or not the prescription may be refilled.  If the prescription is not to be refilled, the word “NONE” shall be entered on the order.  If the prescription may be refilled, the number of times shall be written on the order.  Arabic numerals only are not acceptable; the amount to be dispensed shall be written out longhand in addition to Roman or Arabic numerals in order to discourage alterations in written prescription orders.
4.  A separate prescription blank shall be used for each controlled substance order.
5.  Two copies shall be made of every prescription issued for a controlled substance

in Berkowitz’s Missouri office practice sites.  The original prescriptions shall be maintained complete with the information required by Section 195.060.1, RSMo 2000, with one copy maintained in the patient chart and the other copy maintained separately from patients’ charts, filed in chronological order, and readily retrievable for inspection and copying by investigators from the Bureau or the Missouri State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts.  In this chronological file, Dr. Berkowitz shall also maintain copies of discharge summaries to document all prescriptions for controlled substances issued to patients upon discharge from inpatient or outpatient surgical center settings.
6.  Dr. Berkowitz shall institute a procedure whereby a daily record of telephone prescriptions and refill authorizations for Schedule III, IV and V controlled substances by Dr. Berkowitz or his staff on his behalf shall be established and maintained.  The following information shall be 
included in the record:  date, patient’s name, patient’s address, drug, drug strength, drug quantity, name of firm requesting authorization, and name of person transmitting approval.
7.  Dr. Berkowitz agrees that the Bureau and investigators from the Missouri State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts shall have access to all required controlled drug records at any time during regular office hours.

8.  Dr. Berkowitz understands that should he relocate his professional practice, the controlled substance registration for that practice will terminate immediately, and he may not conduct activities with controlled substances until he has been issued a new certificate of registration for the new practice location.

9.  Dr. Berkowitz shall renew his Missouri Controlled Substances Registrations and professional license in a timely fashion and shall be current in his registrations at all times, including the reporting of any change in his practice address.
10.  Dr. Berkowitz agrees that if the Bureau issues him a registration, the Bureau shall not be limited to statutory grounds for revocation as set out in Section 195.040.7, RSMo 1994, but may also use the provisions of Sections 195.040.11 and 195.040.3, RSMo 1994 whenever the Bureau has reason to believe that Dr. Berkowitz has violated any federal or state controlled substance laws or regulations.

11.  Violation of any term of this Agreement by Dr. Berkowitz is sufficient basis for the Bureau to revoke or suspend his controlled substances registration or deny an application for controlled substances registration.

12.  Copies of this Agreement shall be forwarded by the Bureau to the Missouri State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts and to the Federal Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) in accordance with Section 195.190, RSMo 1994.

13.  This agreement shall apply to all Missouri Controlled Substances Registrations maintained by Dr. Berkowitz.

14.  The conditions of this Agreement shall be in effect for three years from the date of execution of this Agreement.  Upon successful completion of one year of this Agreement and after providing the Bureau with documentation of the successful completion of a Bureau approved controlled substances prescribing and record keeping course, Dr. Berkowitz may apply for termination of this Agreement.
15.  Dr. Berkowitz shall not violate any provision of Chapter 195 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri nor any regulation promulgated thereunder.

16.  All costs and expenses incurred by Dr. Berkowitz in complying with this Settlement Agreement shall be the sole responsibility of Dr. Berkowitz, and shall in no way be the obligation of the Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services.

�We assume that Propoxyphene was the controlled substance at issue in Findings 4 and/or 5.


�We have included the text setting forth the “terms” in our Appendix.


�Section 621.045.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to the 2005 Supplement to the Revised Statutes of Missouri.


�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).


�Soars v. Soars-Lovelace, Inc., 142 S.W.2d 866, 871 (Mo. 1940).


�Answer, at 3.


�Cocktail Fortune, Inc. v. Supervisor of Liquor Control, 994 S.W.2d 955, 957 (Mo. banc 1999); Williams Cos. v. Director of Revenue, 799 S.W.2d 602, 604 (Mo. banc, 1990); Fayne v. Department of Soc. Servs., 802 S.W.2d 565 (Mo. App., W.D. 1991).  


�Section 195.017.6(4)(d).


�Section 195.017.8(1)(b).


�Section 195.017.6(4)(b).


�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 722 (11th ed. 2003).


�Id. at 1063.


�See State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Taylor, No. 00-2915 HA (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n May 3, 2002) (doctor required to agree to warrantless searches and employ a third-party pharmacist).
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